STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County

Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JUN 26 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WAYNE COUEY, JR.,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-000709

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TAYLOR D GILLIAM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in concluding that the State established a prior conviction for Appellant's failure to register, second offense, where no testimony was presented by the State regarding prior convictions?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by a Spartanburg County grand jury on January 11, 2017 for failure to register, second offense. R. 80-81. Appellant proceeded to a bench trial before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly on March 14, 2017. R. 1. Paul Neely represented Appellant, and Barry Barnette, Sara Bozarth, and Megan Moricle appeared on behalf of the State.

After a one-day trial, Judge Kelly found Appellant guilty and sentenced him to three hundred and sixty-six days' incarceration. R. 68, l. 15 – R. 69, l. 5.

This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in concluding that the State established a prior conviction for Appellant's failure to register, second offense, where no testimony was presented by the State regarding prior convictions.

Background

After spending most of his life in New Jersey, Appellant was arrested in South Carolina for failing to register, second offense. According to Debra Blanton, an employee of the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office, Appellant failed to register in January 2015. R. 16, l. 24 – R. 17, l. 6. Appellant was arrested in September 2016. Id.

Blanton testified that offenders would register at her office: some registered biannually and others registered quarterly. R. 8, ll. 17 – 24. Appellant was allegedly required to register quarterly using a form provided by the State of South Carolina. Id.; R. 71-78. Blanton would read the form to Appellant. R. 19, ll. 18 – 24.

Blanton was aware that Appellant was leaving South Carolina to travel to New Jersey for some family court matters. R. 11, l. 24 – R. 12, l. 8. Appellant received a travel pass to go to New Jersey, and he cleared his plans with Blanton. R. 52, ll. 3 – 19. Blanton did not provide Appellant with any time restrictions on his travel to New Jersey, nor did she advise him to come in before he left for New Jersey. R. 53, l. 3 – R. 54, l. 5.

Blanton was the State's only witness. At the conclusion of the State's case, counsel for Appellant moved for a directed verdict. R. 24, l. 13 – R. 25, l. 14. Citing State v. Latimore, counsel argued that "a person required to register on the sex offender registry is entitled to

reasonable notice... before he can be violated for failure to register.” 390 S.C. 88, 700 S.E.2d 456 (Ct. App. 2010).

Counsel also argued a constitutional claim—that the State of South Carolina “has no personal jurisdiction to attach its laws to a resident of New Jersey.” R. 26, ll. 1 – 24. According to S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(B), and as articulated by counsel, “a person who remains in this State for a total of thirty days during a twelve-month period is a resident of this State.” Id. Therefore, Appellant was not a resident of South Carolina under the statute and could not be convicted:

Officer Blanton testified that Mr. Couey was in New Jersey from January 2015 until August of 2016, that’s the State’s evidence, Your Honor, and if that’s the case, he’s not a resident of South Carolina and that’s based on the State’s testimony so we would move for a directed verdict on those grounds as well.

R. 26, ll. 1 – 24.

All three of the State’s attorneys spoke in response to this motion. R. 27, ll. 1 – 11. The trial court denied the motion. R. 28, l. 10 – R. 29, l. 21.

Following the denial of the directed verdict motion, Appellant testified. R. 30 – R. 55. He indicated that he lived in New Jersey nearly all of his life. R. 30, ll. 14 – 24. He came to South Carolina for his younger brother’s wedding. R. 31, ll. 14 – 21. In 2015, he returned to New Jersey to protect his parental rights. R. 33, l. 24 – R. 35, l. 1.

Appellant called Blanton on multiple occasions to advise her of his plans to return to New Jersey. R. 34, l. 1 – R. 36, l. 18. Nonetheless, she obtained a warrant for his arrest on January 30, 2015, even though the time for Appellant to register in the month of January had not expired. R. 35, l. 13 – R. 36, l. 2.

Appellant did not have to sign anything when he registered in New Jersey; he was only required to check in. R. 38, l. 21 – R. 39, l. 15. In South Carolina, Appellant was told by

Blanton to register every ninety days. R. 39, l. 16 – R. 40, l. 6. Because he could not read what was written on the registration paperwork, he relied solely on the date to know when to go back and register. R. 51, l. 14 – R. 52, l. 2.

Appellant required help from his fiancé in order to obtain an identification card at the South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles. R. 50, l. 1 – R. 51, l. 9. Appellant was unaware that he had to provide written notice of a change in address. R. 36, ll. 19 – 21.

Blanton was later recalled to the stand following the close of the defense's case. R. 61 – 62. When asked about Appellant's trip to New Jersey, she responded:

[W]hen [Appellant] came in and registered in October I believe it was, uh, a few weeks after that, uh, he came by the office [and] advised that he would, uh, probably have to go back to New Jersey on family court issues, um, that's when he notified us and I believe it was around, um, October, November, of 2014.

R. 62, ll. 8 – 15.

Blanton did not recall Appellant's call to her in January advising that he would be staying a little longer, but admitted that she does not take notes on every call that she receives. R. 62, l. 16 – R. 64, l. 10.

Virginia Ann Johnson, Appellant's fiancé, took the stand following Appellant's testimony. Although she was sequestered, she corroborated all of Appellant's testimony. R. 6, ll. 14 – 25. She reiterated that Appellant left for New Jersey in mid-January 2015 to fight for his parental rights. R. 56, l. 15 – R. 57, l. 4. She helped him obtain an identification card by filling out his paperwork, as Appellant indicated. R. 59, ll. 1 – 23; R. 60, ll. 9 – 25; R. 61, ll. 7 – 15.

After the defense rested, counsel for Appellant renewed his motion for a directed verdict. R. 64, l. 18 – R. 68, l. 17. Counsel pointed out that Appellant was charged with "failure to register second offense" and "the State hasn't provided evidence of a first offense." Id.

Additionally, counsel pointed out that Appellant did not go far in school, has learning disabilities, and took special education classes. Id.

The trial court again denied counsel's motion. Id. In particular, the trial court found that Appellant "actually testified" that he had a prior conviction. R. 67, l. 19 – R. 68, l. 17. Counsel and the trial court discussed the testimony:

Court: [Y]our client actually testified to the, uh, uh, element that you talkin' about, I think you're tryin' to say the State never offered his prior convictions on the first offense but he testified that he was convicted, uh, of the first offense, did he not?

Counsel: Your Honor, I don't, I don't recall that - - -

Court: Well, - - -

Counsel: - - - testimony.

Court: - - - you - - - wanna look at [it]?

Counsel: Yes, sir, I would.

R. 66, l. 23 – R. 67, l. 10.

However, the court reporter indicated that she would have to pull it up on her computer, which she did not have at the time. R. 67, ll. 13 – 19. She offered to borrow a laptop, but the trial court ruled that Appellant testified "that he had a prior conviction." R. 67, l. 23 – R. 68, l. 17.

Argument

Although the Chapter 53 of Title 44 of the South Carolina Code of Laws covers "Poisons, Drugs, and Other Controlled Substances," it also contains the definition of a second offense: "[a]n offense is considered a second or subsequent offense if, prior to his conviction of the offense, the offender has at any time been convicted under this article." S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-

470. The plain meaning of the statute requires a prior conviction before an enhanced sentence can be imposed.

As the South Carolina Supreme Court stated in DeWitt v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp., 274 S.C. 184, 262 S.E.2d 28 (1980):

When the State is prosecuting a person for an offense that carries an enhanced penalty on a conviction of a second or subsequent offense, the State is not required to prove the legality of the prior conviction, nor does it have to show the facts surrounding that conviction. *It is only necessary for the State to prove that a previous conviction exists, that the conviction was for an offense which occurred prior to the commission of the offense for which the defendant is being tried, and the defendant was the subject of that prior conviction.*

Id. at 187, 262 S.E.2d at 29-30 (emphasis added).

The first offense (for which a defendant was convicted) must have occurred prior to the commission of the second offense. In Appellant's case, there is no evidence of his prior conviction. Outside of the conclusory statement contained in the arrest warrant, a prior conviction is never mentioned by any of the witnesses. R. 79.

"A defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the state fails to produce evidence of the offense charged." State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). "When reviewing a denial of a directed verdict, this Court views the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the state." Id. "If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury." Id. at 292-93, 625 S.E.2d at 648.

Section 23-3-470 of the South Carolina Code delineates the penalties for failure to register. Subsection (B)(1) sets forth:

A person convicted for a first offense is guilty of a misdemeanor and may be fined not more than one thousand dollars, or imprisoned for not more than three hundred sixty-six days, or both. Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 22-3-

540, 22-3-545, 22-3-550, or any other provisions of law, a first offense may be tried in magistrate's court.

Appellant was subjected to the harsher and mandatory sentence of three hundred and sixty-six days under S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470(B)(2) which allowed for neither suspension nor probation.

The State failed to produce any direct or circumstantial evidence from which the trial court, as finder of fact, could determine that Appellant had been convicted of a first offense. The word "prior" was used only twice in the entirety of Appellant's trial. R. 67, l. 1; R. 68, l. 3. Throughout the remainder of Blanton's and Appellant's testimony, there is no mention of a prior conviction. Therefore, Appellant could not have been convicted of a second offense and should have been entitled to a directed verdict.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse his conviction and issue an Order of acquittal.

A handwritten signature in black ink, appearing to read "Taylor D. Gilliam", written over a horizontal line.

Taylor D Gilliam
Appellate Defender