ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000709

RECEIVED
JUN 13 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

WAYNE COUEY, JR.APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street, 3rd Floor
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Wayne Couey, Jr. (Appellant) was indicted at the January 23, 2017 term of the grand jury for Spartanburg County for “violation of sex offender registry” (2016-GS-42-5351). He was represented by Assistant Public Defender Paul K. Neely of the Seventh Circuit Public Defender’s Office. Respondent (the State) was represented by Solicitor Barry J. Barnette and Assistant Solicitors Sara B. Bozarth and Megan L. Moricle of the Seventh Circuit Solicitor’s Office. On March 14, 2017, Appellant proceeded to a bench trial before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly where he was convicted as indicted. He was sentenced by Judge Kelly for failure to register, second offense, to three hundred and sixty-six (366) days’ imprisonment. Appellant timely filed a notice of intent to appeal his conviction and sentence and subsequently submitted a Brief in support of his Appeal. This Brief of Respondent follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant was charged with a violation of the sex offender registry based on an allegation that “[he] did in Spartanburg County on or about January 30, 2015, after having been convicted of sexual assault in New Jersey on April 22, 1999, fail to register annually as a sex offender with the Spartanburg County Sheriff’s Office (SCSO) in Spartanburg, South Carolina, as required by law.” (R.p.80-p.81). Appellant requested a bench trial. His case was called for trial on March 14, 2017, before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly. After the court heard pretrial motions, the State called its one and only witness, Master Deputy Debra Blanton of the SCSO, to the stand. (R.p.1-p.7).

Deputy Blanton testified she was the sex offender registry coordinator for the SCSO and explained her job was to oversee the 648 registered sex offenders in Spartanburg County. She testified her responsibilities included trying to ensure the sex offenders registered and continued to re-register as required by state law and federal guidelines. Deputy Blanton testified she knows

Appellant and then identified him in the courtroom. She noted Appellant was required to re-register quarterly and explained that each time an offender comes in to register she goes over the rules and regulations that are set forth in the sex offender registry contract or what the SCSO calls the “Offender Information Form.” Deputy Blanton then identified the contract that was initialed and signed by Appellant and noted it included a requirement that he notify the SCSO if he changed his address. The Form was admitted into evidence as a business record. (R.p.71-p.78).¹ Deputy Blanton testified Appellant would have had the rules explained to him four times a year, every year, since 2009, yet he failed to re-register in January of 2015 as required and as a result a warrant was issued for his arrest. She said Appellant failed to return to her office to re-register until October of 2016, a year and a half after missing the January, 2015, re-registration deadline. (R.p.7-p.18).

Following cross-examination and brief questioning on redirect, the State rested. (R.p.18-p.24). Appellant moved for a directed verdict on two grounds. First, he argued pursuant to *State v. Latimore*, 390 S.C. 88, 700 S.E.2d 456 (Ct. App. 2010), that he was entitled to a directed verdict because the State failed to present sufficient evidence it had provided Appellant reasonable notice of the registration requirements under the statute. Second, he argued he was entitled to a directed verdict “on a constitutional ground that the State of South Carolina has no personal jurisdiction to attach its laws to a resident of New Jersey.” Appellant did not make any argument in regard to the absence of evidence of a prior conviction for failure to register and did not move for a directed verdict on this basis. (R.p.24-p.26). After hearing from the State in response to the arguments Appellant did raise, the trial court denied the motion. (R.p.26-p.28).

¹ The Offender Information Form indicates Appellant had a prior conviction for failure to register which resulted in a sentence of thirty (30) days’ imprisonment. (R. p. 73).

Next, Appellant testified in his own defense. He explained he is originally from New Jersey and briefly described the New Jersey conviction which resulted in him having to register as a sex offender in South Carolina after he moved to Spartanburg. Appellant claimed he has problems reading and writing, that he took special education classes growing up, and that he was diagnosed with a learning disability, all of which made it hard to understand the registration requirements on the form given to him by Deputy Blanton. He testified he went back to New Jersey in January of 2015 to attend a court proceeding regarding custody of his children, who lived in New Jersey. Appellant claimed he called Deputy Blanton that month to tell her he needed to stay in New Jersey longer because he had still not gone to court and she claimed she did not want to hear it and had obtained a warrant for his arrest. (R.p.30-p.37).

On cross-examination, Appellant admitted the first time he registered in South Carolina an officer with SCSO read the offender information form to him; however, he claimed Deputy Blanton did not. He did however acknowledge Deputy Blanton had given him a copy of the form each time he came in to register. (R.p.37-p.40). Appellant then testified that he first registered as a sex offender in South Carolina in 2008. He explained that when he moved to South Carolina and tried to get an ID “they locked me up” for failing to register even though he “aint [sic] know I had to register down here.” (R.p.40, line 24-p.41, line 13). Appellant then acknowledged he knew he had to re-register four times a year in South Carolina because the piece of paper given to him by Deputy Blanton reminded him to do so. (R.p.41-51). Appellant called one other witness in his defense, his fiancée Virginia Ann Johnson. (R.p.56-p.61). He did not renew or mention his previous motion for a directed verdict at the close of his case.

Next, the State re-called Deputy Blanton in reply. She testified she did not remember Appellant calling her in January of 2015 to say he was still in New Jersey and would not be

coming in to re-register; however, she said she tells all of the sex offenders that if they will be out of state for more than ten days they must file a temporary change of address with her office. (R.p.62-p.64). At the conclusion of Deputy Blanton's testimony, Appellant said: "Your Honor, uh, I'm gonna renew my motion for directed verdict **this time based on the grounds Mr. Couey is charged with domestic, with the failure to register second offense, the State hasn't provided evidence of a first offense** so I'm gonna move for directed verdict on those grounds" (R.p.64, lines 18-23) (emphasis added). In addition to raising this new ground, Appellant again argued the claim that he was entitled to a directed verdict because the State failed to present sufficient evidence it had provided him reasonable notice of the registration requirements under the statute. The trial court denied the motions. In regard to the new ground, the court ruled: "Uh, as to the elements of the offense, uh, your client actually testified to the, uh, uh, element that that you talkin' about, I think you're tryin' to say the State never offered his prior convictions on the first offense but he testified that he was convicted, uh, of the first offense did he not?" (R.p.66-p.67). Appellant's counsel said he did not remember that testimony; however, the trial court found: "the ruling a the Court is he testified to, I wrote it down, he, I'm makin' notes up here, I'm not, I'm not workin' the crossword puzzle, he he testified that he had a prior conviction, uh, four of those and somewhere here, I've got the day that occurred." (R.p.67, line 25-p.68, line 4). The trial court then found Appellant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of failing to register and sentenced him for failure to register, second offense, to three hundred and sixty-six days' imprisonment. (R.p.68-p.69; SROA.p.1).

ARGUMENT

I.

Appellant's argument that the trial court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict upon concluding the State sufficiently established his prior conviction for failure to register as a sex offender as an element of his charged offense of failure to register as a sex offender, second offense, is not preserved for appellate review because it was not raised in Appellant's initial motion for a directed verdict. Furthermore, even if preserved, the trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict where: (1) the prior conviction is not an element of the statutory offense for which Appellant was on trial and (2) even if it were an element of the offense, the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence from which the jury could fairly and logically find Appellant had a prior conviction for failure to register as a sex offender.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in concluding the State established a prior conviction for his failure to register, second offense, where no testimony was presented by the State regarding a prior conviction. He contends: "Therefore, Appellant could not have been convicted of a second offense and should have been entitled to a directed verdict." (Brief of Appellant, p.8). The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is both unpreserved and entirely without merit.

Issue is not Preserved for Appellate Review

Appellant's argument is not preserved for appellate review because it was not raised in Appellant's initial motion for a directed verdict and instead was first argued after the defense presented its case and after the State presented a witness in reply. *See State v. Wakefield*, 323 S.C. 189, 196, 473 S.E.2d 831, 835 (Ct. App. 1996) (finding issues not timely raised to and ruled upon by the trial court will not be addressed on appeal); *State v. Sullivan*, 310 S.C. 311, 314, 426 S.E.2d 766, 768 (1993) ("To preserve an issue for appellate review, an appellant must object at his first opportunity."); *Creech v. S.C. Wildlife & Marine Res. Dept.*, 328 S.C. 24, 34, 491 S.E.2d 571, 576 (1997) (holding the appellant's failure to raise a particular issue in its directed verdict

motion precludes appellate review of that issue). Appellant's first opportunity to argue he was entitled to a directed verdict because the State failed to present evidence of a prior conviction was when he made his initial motion for a directed verdict. However, he first argued this ground after the defense presented its case and after the State presented a witness in reply. By electing NOT to raise this particular issue in his directed verdict motion, Appellant waived any right he would otherwise have had to raise the issue on appeal. Additionally, Appellant has failed to preserve any of his original grounds for directed verdict for review because he did not renew his initial directed verdict motion at the close of the defense's presentation of evidence. *See State v. Adams*, 332 S.C. 139, 144, 504 S.E.2d 124, 126-27 (Ct. App. 1998) (recognizing a directed verdict argument is not preserved for appellate review unless it is renewed at the close of all the evidence). Appellant's argument is not preserved for appellate review; therefore, his conviction should be affirmed.

A Directed Verdict was Properly Denied

Even if Appellant's argument is preserved, the trial court properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict because the State presented direct and substantial circumstantial evidence from which the jury could find Appellant guilty of each element of failure to register based on the natural and logical inferences to be drawn from the evidence. This is because: (1) the prior conviction for failure to register is not an element of the statutory offense for which Appellant was on trial and therefore the State was not required to present evidence of the prior conviction except for purposes of sentencing; and (2) even if it were an element of the offense, the State presented direct testimonial evidence and documentary evidence from which the jury could fairly and logically find Appellant had a prior conviction for failure to register as a sex offender.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. *State v. Weston*, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury. *Weston*, 367 S.C. at 292-93, 625 S.E.2d at 648; *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 593-94, 606 S.E.2d 475, 477-78 (2004). The appellate court may only reverse the trial judge's denial of a directed verdict motion if there is no evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling or if the ruling is based on an error of law. *State v. Gaster*, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002); *State v. Dantonio*, 376 S.C. 594, 603, 658 S.E.2d 337, 342 (Ct. App. 2008). Indeed, "unless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge's ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law." *State v. Nix*, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986).

When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not its weight. *State v. Curtis*, 356 S.C. 622, 633, 591 S.E.2d 600, 605 (2004); *State v. Condrey*, 349 S.C. 184, 190, 562 S.E.2d 320, 323 (Ct. App. 2002). If there is any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury. *Weston*, 367 S.C. at 292-93, 625 S.E.2d at 648; *Latimore*, 390 S.C. at 95, 700 S.E.2d at 460. Ultimately, the question is whether, in view of the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable

doubt. *State v. Robinson*, 310 S.C. 535, 539, 426 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1992) (finding any rational trier of fact could have found all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt in affirming the denial of a motion for directed verdict and citing *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)). The task of the trial court is to simply determine “whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016). The reviewing court should affirm if in viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, “the evidence could induce a reasonable juror to find [the defendant] guilty.” *See State v. Pearson*, 415 S.C. 463, 474, 783 S.E.2d 802, 808 (2016); *see also State v. Richburg*, 250 S.C. 451, 459, 158 S.E.2d 769, 772 (1968) (“When the evidence is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference, questions of fact must be submitted to the jury.”).

Discussion / Analysis

Appellant appears to conflate the concept of a sentence being enhanced at sentencing due to the existence of a prior conviction, *see, e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370(b) (various drug offenses), with the concept of a prior conviction serving as a substantive element of the crime itself. *See, e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311(A)(2) (first-degree burglary) & 16-3-655(A)(2) (first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor). He argues he was entitled to a directed verdict on the charge of failure to register, second offense, because evidence of the prior conviction for failure to register was not presented as substantive evidence during the State’s case during trial. Yet, the prior conviction is not an element of failure to register simply because Appellant was ultimately sentenced for a second offense. Thus, even if there had been a lack of such evidence, the trial court could not have granted a directed verdict on this basis.

Section 23-3-470 of the South Carolina Code establishes the crime of failure to register or provide required notifications. It provides in part that: “If an offender fails to register, provide notification of change of address, or notification of permanent or temporary change in employment, or attendance, enrollment, employment, volunteer status, intern status, or vocation status at any private school, as required by this article, he must be punished as provide in subsection (B).” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470(A). This substantive offense does not include language suggesting a prior conviction must exist before a conviction will lie. Instead, the conviction exists independent of the number of priors, and the statute merely provides for increased punishment for “a person convicted for a second offense.” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-470(B)(2). As recognized by our supreme court, “**other than the fact of a prior conviction**, any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Rice*, 401 S.C. 330, 333-34, 737 S.E.2d 485, 487 (2013) (quoting *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 490 (2000)) (emphasis added). Here, the “element” alleged by Appellant is the fact of a prior conviction. It did not need to be submitted to the jury, and as a result, the alleged lack of evidence of that fact in the State’s case in chief could not warrant the grant of a directed verdict. Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

Alternatively, even if this Court determines a prior conviction is an element of the substantive offense, the State presented direct testimonial evidence and documentary evidence from which the jury could fairly and logically find Appellant had a prior conviction for failure to register as a sex offender. Thus, the trial court properly denied Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict. There was no dispute that Appellant failed to register in January of 2015 as required by statute. The State then presented evidence that Appellant was given notice of the registration

requirements both orally and in writing by Deputy Blanton. It also introduced the “Offender Information Form” which listed Appellant’s prior conviction and sentence for failure to register. Finally, Appellant testified under cross-examination that when he moved to South Carolina and tried to get an ID “they locked me up” for failing to register even though he “aint [sic] know I had to register down here.” (R.p.40, line 24-p.41, line 13). When viewed in a light most favorable to the State, this testimony was, as recognized by the trial judge, an admission by Appellant that he had a prior conviction. (R.p.67-p.68).

In reviewing the propriety of a trial court denying a motion for a directed verdict, this Court found that when the defendant presents testimony, he loses the right to have the court review the sufficiency of the evidence based on the state's evidence alone. *State v. Harry*, 321 S.C. 273, 277, 468 S.E.2d 76, 79 (Ct. App. 1996). Our supreme court later “expressly adopted the reasoning in *Harry* and the waiver rule propounded therein.” *State v. Phillips*, 416 S.C. 184, 194, 785 S.E.2d 448, 453 (2016). Thus, the trial court’s consideration of Appellant’s admission was entirely appropriate. Appellant was indicted for failure to register or provide required notifications under the sex offender registry, and was convicted as indicted. During Appellant’s trial, the State presented direct and substantial circumstantial evidence establishing Appellant’s guilt for each element of failure to register beyond a reasonable doubt. This evidence created factual questions regarding Appellant’s guilt that could only be properly resolved by the judge acting as the ultimate finder of fact. This is true regardless of whether the prior conviction was an element of the offense, because the State presented evidence of that prior conviction at trial. Based on the existence of the evidence in this case along with the logical inferences of guilt to be drawn from that evidence, the trial court properly denied Appellant’s directed verdict motion.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the lower court be affirmed.